IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

CASE NO. 2009-CA-01054

COOPER L. "PETE" MISSKELLEY

APPELLANT

VS.

CARROLL COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI and CARROLL/MONTGOMERY REGIONAL CORRECTIONAL FACILITY

DEFENDANT/APPELLEE

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIRST JUDICIAL DISTRICT OF CARROLL COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

BRIEF OF APPELLANT, COOPER L. "PETE" MISSKELLEY

ORAL ARGUMENT NOT REQUESTED

WEBB FRANKLIN, MB

LOTT, FRANKLIN & FONDA, PLLC 202 WEST MARKET STREET P. O. BOX 1176 GREENWOOD, MS 38935 TELEPHONE: (662) 453-6576

ATTORNEY FOR PLAINTIFF/APPELLANT

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

CASE NO. 2009-CA-01054

COOPER L. "PETE" MISSKELLEY

APPELLANT

VS.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE		
	I	COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS AND DISPOSITION IN THE COURT BELOW
	II.	STATEMENT OF RELEVANT FACTS
SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT		
ARGUMENT		
I.	THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT TO THE DEFENDANTS ON MISSKELLEY'S CLAIM THAT HIS EMPLOYMENT CONTRACT WAS BREACHED	
II.	MISSKELLEY HAD A RIGHT TO RELY ON THE CATASTROPHIC LEAVE PROVISIONS OF Carroll County's personnel policy and Carroll County had a duty to follow the policy it established to benefit its employees	
III.	Misskelley's employment with Carroll County was never terminated by Carroll County	
IV.	THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN INTERPRETING CARROLL COUNTY'S CATASTROPHIC LEAVE POLICY	
CONCLUSION		
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE		
CERTIFICATE OF FILING		

L

ţ

i

ļ

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

STATE CASES

Aetna Casualty and Surety Co., v. Berry 669 So. 2d 56 (Miss. 1996)

Bobbitt v. The Orchard, Ltd. 603 So. 2d 356 (Miss. 1992)

Northern Electric Co. v. Phillips 660 So. 2d 1278 - 1281 (Miss. 1995)

Russell v. Orr 700 So. 2d 619 (Miss. 1997)

Southwest Mississippi Regional Medical Center v. Lawrence 684 So. 2d 1257 (Miss. 1996)

Thompson v. Jones County Community Hospital 353 So. 2d 795, 796 (Miss. 1977)

Townsend v. Estate of Gilbert 616 So.2d 333, 335 (Miss. 1993)

Tucker v. Hinds County 558 So. 2d 869, 872 (Miss. 1990)

STATE STATUTES

Miss. Code Ann. § 11-46-11

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- I. WHETHER THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT TO THE DEFENDANTS ON MISSKELLEY'S CLAIM THAT HIS EMPLOYMENT CONTRACT WAS BREACHED
- II. WHETHER MISSKELLEY HAD A RIGHT TO RELY ON THE CATASTROPHIC LEAVE PROVISIONS OF CARROLL COUNTY'S PERSONNEL POLICY; AND WHETHER CARROLL COUNTY HAD A DUTY TO FOLLOW THE POLICY IT ESTABLISHED TO BENEFIT ITS EMPLOYEES
- III. WHETHER MISSKELLEY'S EMPLOYMENT WITH CARROLL COUNTY WAS EVER TERMINATED BY CARROLL COUNTY
- IV. WHETHER THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN INTERPRETING CARROLL COUNTY'S CATASTROPHIC LEAVE POLICY

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

I. COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS AND DISPOSITION IN THE COURT BELOW.

This appeal comes before the Court from the Circuit Court of the First Judicial District of Carroll County, Mississippi. On May 28, 2009 Honorable C. E. Morgan, III, issued his Order Granting Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment (R. 209-213). Misskelley timely filed his Notice of Appeal on June 23, 2009. (R. 214).

II. STATEMENT OF RELEVANT FACTS

Misskelley was a long time employee of Carroll County, Mississippi, and on January 20, 2004, the Carroll County Board of Supervisors elevated him to the position of Warden of the Carroll/Montgomery Regional Correctional Facility under a written contract of employment spread upon the minutes of the County. The initial term of the contract was for a period of one year automatically renewing for regular periods of one year unless one of the parties should submit a written notice of termination sixty days prior to the original or renewed termination date. (R. 10-17).

In addition to the terms of his contract, Misskelley (and all employees of the Correctional Facility) was entitled to receive the benefits of the County's written personnel policy including its provisions for "Catastrophic Leave" which provided:

The Facility shall allow thirty (30) days per year (20 hours per month) for catastrophic injury or illness for employees and appointed officials. A catastrophic injury or illness means a severe condition or combination of conditions affecting the mental or physical health of an employee or member of an employee's immediate family that requires the services of a licensed physician for an extended period of time and that forces the employee to exhaust all personal and sick leave that cannot be carried over into the next calendar year. Unused catastrophic leave shall be carried over into subsequent calendar years and any unused leave shall be counted as creditable service for the purposes of the retirement

2

system upon termination of employment. Catastrophic leave can only be used by employees or appointed officials upon approval of the Sheriff of Carroll County and the Board of Supervisors of Carroll County. Catastrophic leave shall be retroactive to all current covered employees in the retirement system beginning at their date of employment with Carroll County. (R. 18).

Misskelley actively served as Warden of the Correctional Facility from the initial date of his employment in 2004 until November 9, 2007. In October, 2007, because of various medical conditions, Misskelley became unable to fulfill his duties. On October 26, 2007, Dr. Susan Jenay Neely, Misskelley's personal physician, certified that he was physically disabled to the extent that he could not perform his duties as Warden. (R. 23, 180). On the advice of his doctor, Misskelley approached the Sheriff and asked to be placed on "Catastrophic Leave" under the provisions of the personnel policy. The Sheriff then had his staff prepare a report which reflected that Misskelley had earned a total of 2,200 hours or 275 days leave under the County's Catastrophic Leave Policy. (R. 19-21). Based on the report Sheriff Don Gray, by letter dated November 5, 2007, formally requested the Board of Supervisors to place Misskelley on Catastrophic Leave to be effective as of November 9, 2007. (R. 22).

At its regular meeting on November 5, 2007, the Board of Supervisors took the following action:

A motion was made by Supervisor Ashmore, duly seconded by Supervisor Cobbins and unanimously approved the request of Sheriff Don Gray for Catastrophic Leave for Warden Cooper L. Misskelley, pending *determination of an ending date* (Emphasis added). (R. 24).

One day after the Board approved Catastrophic Leave for Misskelley, elections were held in Carroll County. The incumbent Sheriff was defeated and a new Sheriff elected. The newly elected Sheriff thereafter announced his intentions to hire a new Warden for the Correctional Facility when he would take office in January, 2008. (R. 154; T. 44-46).

Two weeks later on November 16, 2007, the Board of Supervisors met and revisited the question of Catastrophic Leave for Misskelley. The following entry is contained in the minutes of that Board meeting:

Next up for discussion was the Catastrophic Leave for Warden Misskelley. A motion was made by Supervisor Ashmore, duly seconded by Supervisor Cobbins and unanimously approved Catastrophic Leave for Warden Misskelley to be November 9, 2007 - December 31, 2007, *pending termination date*. (Emphasis added). (R. 27).

Misskelley was never informed by the Board of Supervisors, Sheriff Don Gray, or the newly elected Sheriff, Jerry Carver, that his employment had been terminated or that he would not receive pay for all of his 275 days of earned leave. When Misskelley read in the newspaper he had been terminated, he went to the courthouse and was informed by the County payroll clerk that he would not receive any additional pay after December 31, 2007. (R. 75). Feeling aggrieved by the Board's decision to pay him for only 52 days of his earned 275 days of leave, Misskelley requested to appear and did appear before the next scheduled meeting of the Board of Supervisors in Vaiden, Mississippi. (R. 74). At that meeting, Misskelley made a personal plea to be continued in his leave status until he recovered or until he had used all 275 days of his accrued leave. His plea is adequately summarized in his sworn testimony before the lower court:

BY MR. FRANKLIN:

Q. Mr. Misskelley, were you disabled to perform your job from on and after November when it was approved until today?
A. Yes, sir.

Q. And will your medical providers substantiate that?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. And you are still disabled?

A. I am.

Q. All right. Now as the warden of the facility, were you responsible for hiring and firing employees?

A. Yes, I was.

Q. And did you have a policy as the warden to review with all new employees the personnel policy of the facility?

I did. I did, sir. I reviewed the personnel policy along with Α. the personnel handbook and all the guidelines that went along with it on a one on one basis with a new hire, which amounted to discussing about the catastrophic leave to the point that it was a real good thing, and it was. It was a wonderful thing for the new people, something that a lot of other folks didn't have. And I pointed that out to them, and I'm sure a lot of them accepted the position with the catastrophic leave being in mind, and that is one of the reasons I accepted my position. I thought it was provided for, told us we was going to have it, and we accrued so many days a year, and I accrued those days. It belonged to me. I earned that time as from year to year to year, and when I applied for my catastrophic leave, Mr. Webb, I didn't ask nobody to give me no money. I just applied for leave time that belonged to me. It was mine. I earned it. (T. 29-30).

No questions were asked by any Board member and no comments were made by any

Board member concerning Misskelley's plea and request that his leave be extended to include the entire 275 days earned under the Board's personnel handbook and policy. The minutes of the meeting at which Misskelley appeared are silent as to any appearance by him and are also silent concerning any action taken by the Board on his request.¹ (R. 74).

In compliance with Mississippi's Tort Claims Act, Miss. Code Ann. §11-46-11,

Misskelley noticed both defendants of his claim and of his intention to file suit should it not be resolved. (R. 126). The requisite time under this statute expired without resolution of the claim and on June 18, 2008, Misskelley filed this suit. (R. 2). Carroll County and the Correctional Facility filed answers to the complaint on August 20, 2009 (R. 33) and filed a Motion to Dismiss

¹The Board of Supervisors, by unanimous vote amended the Catastrophic Leave provision of the personnel policy by deleting the last sentence which made the accrued leave retroactive to all current covered employees in the retirement system beginning at their date of employment with Carroll County.

and/or Motion for Summary Judgment on January 14, 2009. (R. 88). Misskelley responded to the Motion (R. 151); and the lower court heard the motion on April 14, 2009. (T. 1-54). On May 29, 2009, the lower court issued its final Order and Opinion Granting Defendant's Motions. (R. 209-213) (RE. 3-7). It is from that final order that Misskelley has promulgated this appeal.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

I. Misskelley was employed by Carroll County under and by virtue of a written contract of employment; therefore, he was not an "at will" employee. Carroll County also had adopted a written personnel policy which offered all employees of the Correctional Facility certain benefits including Catastrophic Leave accumulating with longevity of employment. The County's failure to pay him for his accrued leave is a breach of his contract of employment. The question of whether or not the personnel policy became a part of the contract of employment when adopted and whether the County breached that contract are all fact specific inquiries. Thus, summary judgment was improperly granted to the defendant on this claim.

II. Misskelley had a right to and did rely on the Catastrophic Leave provisions of the County's personnel policy. This is not a termination of employment case, although his employment was terminated by the County's failure to pay him. Misskelley seeks to recover the benefit of his earned Catastrophic Leave as provided by the written policy of the County. Where an employer promulgates an employee's personnel policy, the employer is duty bound to follow its provisions. Misskelley could not have done anything wrong to cause his termination because he was on leave. Whether or not the County failed to follow the provisions of its own personnel policy is also a fact specific inquiry. Thus, summary judgment was improperly granted to the defendants.

III. Misskelley's employment was never terminated by the County and on the record that

6

exists he is entitled to be paid for 223 days of unused Catastrophic Leave.

IV. The lower court erred in its interpretation of Carroll County's Catastrophic Leave policy resulting in the court's unsupported grant of summary judgment to Carroll County and the Carroll/Montgomery Correctional Facility.

ARGUMENT

On the issue of summary judgment, the standard of review is well settled "...the standard for reviewing the granting or denying of summary judgment is the same standard as is employed by the trial court under Rule 56(c). This court conducts de nova review of orders granting or denying summary judgment and looks at all the evidentiary matters before it - admissions in pleadings, answers to interrogatories, depositions, affidavits, etc. Aetna Cas. and Sur. Co. v. Berry, 669, So. 2d 56 (Miss. 1996). The evidence must be viewed in the light most favorable to the party against whom the motion has been made. Russell v. Orr, 700 So. 2d 619 (Miss. 1997); Northern Electric Co. V. Phillips, 660 So. 2d 1278 - 1281 (Miss. 1995). The burden of showing that no genuine issued of material fact exists lies with the moving parting, and we give the benefit of every reasonable doubt to the party against whom summary judgment is sought. Tucker v. Hinds County, 558 So. 2d 869, 872 (Miss. 1990). We do not try issues. Rather, we only determine whether there are issues to be tried. Townsend v. Estate of Gilbert, 616 So. 2d 333,335 (Miss. 1993). Furthermore, it is well settled that motions for summary judgment are to be viewed with a skeptical eye, and if a trial court should err, it is better to err of the side of denying the motion. Aetna Cas. And Sun. Co. V. Berry, 669 So. 2d, 70.

In the case at bar the lower courts decision to grant the defendant's motion is tantamount to dismissal of Misskelley's lawsuit based on the pleadings alone. Carroll County and the Correctional Facility uncovered nothing in discovery which was not covered or contrary to his

ŧ.

allegations in the complaint and they produced no affidavits or evidence at the hearing on the motion. The only evidence at the hearing was the sworn testimony of Misskelley which simply restated his allegations contained in his complaint.

I. THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT TO THE DEFENDANTS ON MISSKELLEY'S CLAIM THAT HIS EMPLOYMENT CONTRACT WAS BREACHED.

Under Section 5 of Misskelley's written contact of employment, he could only be terminated during the initial term or any extended term of the contract for the reasons stated therein. (R. 14). There is no mention in the contract that the Warden serve at the pleasure of the Board of Supervisors or at the pleasure of the Sheriff of the County. It is submitted that good reasons exist for the Warden to be hired to run the Correctional Facility outside the influence of political change which could occur in the County. Misskelley's contract clearly removed the position of Warden from County politics. (T. 19). The contract further provided that it would automatically renew unless either the County or Misskelley submitted a notice of termination prior to sixty (60) days of the initial expiration date or any subsequent renewal expiration date. (R. 12-13). In other words, Misskelley was bound under the contract to serve as Warden during its stated term and the County was bound to honor its obligations to Misskelley during the stated term of the employment contract.

Did the County's written personnel policy offering all of the employees of the Correctional Facility the benefit of Catastrophic Leave become a part of and incorporated in Misskelley's employment contract? In a similar case where a public entity provided it employees the equivalent of worker's compensation benefits, this court held: "...a personnel manuel can create contractual obligations, even in the absence of a written contract." <u>Southwest Mississippi</u> <u>Regional Medical Center v. Lawrence</u>, 684 So. 2d 1257 (Miss. 1996). In that case the hospital

8

elected to opt out of worker's compensation insurance and become self insured. In its employee handbook the hospital had provided that employees would be covered for what would in effect be compensable injury under the Worker's Compensation Act. The hospital contended that the employee handbook, by its own terms, was clearly not a contract and that the employee had no guarantee or contractual right therein. It further contended that a unilaterally promulgated employee hand book did not by itself constitute a contract between the employer and employee. This court relying on the decision in <u>Bobbitt v. The Orchard, Ltd.</u>, 603 So.2d 356 (Miss. 1992) stated:

...the lower court granted summary judgment to the employer because the court found that there was an employment contract terminable at will. The Employee Manual had outlined the mutual responsibilities of the employer and the employees. An employee was fired for what was characterized by the employer as insubordination. It was the employee's first infraction, and the Employee Manual had provided that an employee should receive counseling and a formal written warning upon the first infraction. The Court held that because the employer gave the manual to all employees, it became a part of the employment contract. The Court found that it did not give tenure, nor create a right to employment for a definite length of time, but that the employer had an obligation to follow the provisions covered within the manual. Id. at 361. The Court did not note that the lack of any express disclaimer or contractual provisions in the manual did not affect the employer's right to terminate the employee at will. Id. at 362. This Court stated further, "that a personnel manual 'can create contractual obligations, even in the absence of a written agreement."" Id. at 361.

It is uncontroverted that Misskelley's employment contract was in existence and

enforceable when he became disabled in October of 2007. Since his contract must be interpreted to include the benefit of Catastrophic Leave contained in the County's personnel policy, it is also uncontroverted that he had earned under that leave policy a total of 275 days of Catastrophic Leave which was certified to the Board of Supervisors by the Sheriff of Carroll County. (R. 19, 22). The defendants only compensated Misskelley for 52 days of his earned leave. (R. 5.) The County's failure to continue Misskelley in leave status and compensate him until his leave time expired, is a blatant breach of Misskelley's employment contract. A genuine issue of material fact exists regarding the County's breach of the employment contract. For this reason, the lower court erred in granting summary judgment on the issue of breach of contract.

II. MISSKELLEY HAD A RIGHT TO AND DID RELY ON THE CATASTROPHIC LEAVE PROVISIONS OF CARROLL COUNTY'S PERSONNEL POLICY, AND CARROLL COUNTY HAD A DUTY TO FOLLOW THE POLICY IT ESTABLISHED TO BENEFIT ITS EMPLOYEES.

Misskelley submits that the case at bar is not a termination of employment case even though the County in effect terminated him by not continuing to allow him leave status after the new Sheriff assumed office.

Misskelley's claim was for benefits as provided in the County's personnel policy. In the case of <u>Southwest Mississippi Regional Medical Center v. Lawrence</u>, (Infra) where an employee claimed a benefit which was provided in the employee manual this court held that, "the employer had an obligation to follow the provisions covered within the manual". The court reached this conclusion after it had determined that the employee was an "at will" employee.

The defendants in the motion claimed that no employment contract existed between Misskelley and Carroll County, because of an alleged resignation of Misskelley. Defendants further claimed that even though he resumed his duties as Warden, that his contract of employment was vitiated and that Misskelley became an employee "at will" without the legal status of an employee under contract. (T. 89-90). Further alleging that as an "at will" employee he could be terminated at any time for any reason. (T. 140). This allegation was adamantly denied by Misskelley. (T. 20-27). At the motion hearing, defendants abandoned this allegation (T. 34-37). However, this issue is a genuine issue of material fact and in Appellant's view is outcome determinative. Although the lower court found at the hearing that a resolution of this issue was unnecessary (T. 33-34) (R. 212) Misskelley disagrees and submits that the lower court erred in granting summary judgment to the defendants.

III. WAS MISSKELLEY'S EMPLOYMENT TERMINATED BY CARROLL COUNTY?

The contract of employment provided that Misskelley could be terminated for cause or by written notice of non-renewal within 60 days of the expiration of the term of the contract. Carroll County was bound by the terms of the employment contract when the County Board of Supervisors by resolution unanimously adopted it and spread it upon its minutes. (R. 9).

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