IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

COOPER L. "PETE" MISSKELLEY

PLAINTIFF/APPELLANT

VS.

CARROLL COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI and CARROLL/MONTGOMERY REGIONAL CORRECTIONAL FACILITY

DEFENDANTS/APPELLEES

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIRST JUDICIAL DISTRICT OF CARROLL COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

BRIEF OF APPELLEES,
CARROLL COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI and
CARROLL/MONTGOMERY REGIONAL CORRECTIONAL FACILITY

ORAL ARGUMENT NOT REQUESTED

SILAS McCHAREN, MS
DANIEL COKER HORTON & BELL, P.A.
4400 OLD CANTON ROAD, SUITE 400
P. O. BOX 1184
JACKSON, MS 39215-1084
ATTORNEY FOR DEFENDANTS/APPELLEES

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

CASE NO. 2009-CA-01054	
------------------------	--

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

- I. Misskelley terminated his employment by submitting his resignation well before sixty days of his employment contract's renewal date, as prescribed by the terms of the employment contract. No further employment contract was entered into between CMRCF and Misskelley after his resignation of April 22, 2007 was formally accepted on April 24, 2007. Accordingly, after April 24, 2007, Misskelley's employment with CMRCF was at-will only. As such, Misskelley's claim for breach of the employment contract was properly dismissed as a matter of law by the lower court.
- II. Misskelley's employment with CMRCF was terminated on December 31, 2007. The Board intended this to be Misskelley's termination date, as evidenced by the language used in limiting Misskelley's catastrophic leave time only through December 31, 2007, thus "pending (his) termination date." Misskelley's scheduled departure of December 31, 2007 is further supported by undisputed facts showing that Misskelley openly admitted to being physically incapable of performing his job duties as of November 5, 2007, and, as a result, a new Warden was subsequently hired beginning January 1, 2008. Finally, no salary was paid to Misskelley after December 31, 2007,

and Misskelley has not made any claims for salary after that date. The lower court agreed that the facts clearly show Misskelley's employment was effectively terminated on December 31, 2007. After that date, any remaining unused catastrophic leave accrued by Misskelley was required to be certified to PERS pursuant to the terms of the Policy itself. Therefore, the lower court properly granted summary judgment to Carroll County and the Correctional Facility on this claim.

III. Carroll County and the Correctional Facility strictly followed the terms and procedures outlined in the Policy. Misskelley's employment was terminated on December 31, 2007, leaving Misskelley with 223 days of unused catastrophic leave. The Carroll County Board of Supervisors properly certified all 223 days to PERS for consideration as creditable services for Misskelley's retirement fund, as dictated by the terms of the Policy. Consequently, Misskelley's exclusive remedy, if any, exists under the statutes and regulations of PERS. The Policy is unambiguous regarding procuring, using and dispensing of catastrophic leave time for the Correctional Facility employees. The lower court did not err in its straightforward reading of the Policy. Accordingly, the grant of summary judgment to Carroll County and the Correctional Facility should be upheld as Misskelley's claims fail as a matter of law.

ARGUMENT

It is well-established that an appeal of a trial court's grant or denial of summary judgment is reviewed de novo. *One South, Inc. v. Hollowell*, 963 So.2d 1156, 1160 (Miss. 2007) (citing *Hubbard v. Wansley*, 954 So.2d 951, 956 (Miss. 2007)). Summary judgment is appropriate where "the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law." *Waggoner v. Williamson*, 8 So.3d 147, 152-53 (Miss. 2009) (citing Miss. R. Civ. P. 56(c)). The burden of proof rests on the moving party and evidence

is viewed in a light most favorable to the non-moving party. *Id.* However, once a motion for summary judgment has been made and properly supported, the non-movant "may not rest upon the mere allegations or denials of his pleadings, but his response, by affidavits or as otherwise provided in this rule, must set forth specific facts showing that there is a genuine issue for trial." Miss. R. Civ. P. 56(e). See also *Davis v. City of Clarksdale*, 18 So.3d 246 (Miss. 2009); *Grange Mut. Cas. Co. v. U.S. Fid. & Guar. Co.*, 853 So.2d 1187, 1190 (Miss. 2003).

I. MISSKELLEY'S RESIGNATION AND SUBSEQUENT FAILURE TO ENTER INTO ANOTHER EMPLOYMENT CONTRACT WITH THE CARROLL/MONTGOMERY REGIONAL CORRECTIONAL FACILITY RENDERED HIM AN AT-WILL EMPLOYEE AFTER APRIL 24, 2007 AND, THUS, HIS CLAIM FOR BREACH OF EMPLOYMENT CONTRACT FAILS AS A MATTER OF LAW.

Misskelley claims the failure to compensate him for unused catastrophic leave time after December 31, 2007 was a breach of his employment contract. In support thereof, Misskelley directs this Court's attention to the termination provisions outlined in Section Five and Section Three of the written employment contract. (Appellant's Br. 8). Misskelley references these provisions as the foundation for his allegations that both parties remained "bound under the contract...during its stated term." *Id.* Section Five outlines specific events which would mandate the termination of the employment contract. However, more pointedly, Section Three of the contract states, in pertinent part, that the contract would automatically renew itself for regular periods of one year, "provided neither party submits a notice of termination prior to sixty (60) days of the expiration date or any subsequent renewal expiration dates of this Agreement." (R. 102-103). Accordingly, Section Three of the contract allowed Misskelley to voluntarily terminate his employment as Warden by submitting notice of his resignation at least sixty days prior to December 31 of each renewed year of employment. While Misskelley fleetingly acknowledges the existence of the latter contractual provision, he quite notably fails to point out to the Court its applicability to the present case. The

evidence shows that Misskelley submitted his resignation to Carroll County Sheriff Donald Gray on April 22, 2007, and that the resignation was formally accepted by Sheriff Gray via letter to the Carroll County Chancery Clerk dated April 24, 2007. (R. 120). Indeed Misskelley's resignation was publicly known at the Correctional Facility and triggered the resignation of two other Correctional Facility employees. On April 23, 2007, the day after Misskelley terminated his employment, Amanda M. Whitfield, a nurse at the Correctional Facility, submitted a letter of resignation referencing "the resignation of the warden, Pete Misskelley" as her reason for leaving. (R. 122). Two days later, Jennifer Marett, a counselor at the Correctional Facility, submitted a letter of resignation, also citing "Warden Misskelley's departure from the facility" as the basis for terminating her employment. (R. 123).

A contract of employment "is terminated where the employee tenders his resignation and the proffer is accepted by the employer." *Blackwell v. MS Board of Animal Health*, 784 So.2d 996, 1000 (Miss. Ct. App. 2001). As stated *supra*, Misskelley tendered his resignation on April 22, 2007 and his resignation was accepted on April 24, 2007. (R. 120). The written contract of employment was therefore terminated on April 24, 2007. Although Misskelley was "rehired" by Sheriff Gray on May 4, 2007, Misskelley was considered by the Carroll County Board of Supervisors and the law to be an at-will employee at all times thereafter since no subsequent written employment contract was entered into. As such, there is no genuine issue of material fact regarding Misskelley's allegation of breach of his employment contract and the lower court's grant of summary judgment on the claim should be upheld.

II. MISSKELLEY'S EMPLOYMENT WITH THE CARROLL/MONTGOMERY REGIONAL CORRECTIONAL FACILITY WAS UNEQUIVOCALLY TERMINATED ON DECEMBER 31, 2007, AS EVIDENCED BY BOTH PARTIES' ACTIONS OR INACTIONS AND THE BOARD'S REFERENCE TO MISSKELLEY'S "PENDING TERMINATION DATE." NO GENUINE ISSUE OF MATERIAL FACT EXISTS AS TO THIS CLAIM.

Misskelley appears to argue that his employment contract was either never officially terminated or, in the alternative, that the termination date was unclear. With regard to the former allegation, Misskelley continues to reference the termination provisions within the written employment contract, including the sixty-day written notice requirement discussed *supra*, but nonetheless fails to acknowledge that he voluntarily terminated the contract as of April 24, 2007. (See Appellant's Br. 11; R. 120). Accordingly, any employment Misskelley had with CMRCF after April 24, 2007 was at-will only and therefore subject to the Carroll County Board of Supervisor's legal right to fire him at any time for "good reason, bad reason, or no reason at all excepting only reasons independently declared legally impermissible." *Shaw v. Burchfield*, 481 So.2d 247, 254 (Miss. 1985). Thus, while Misskelley fervently notes the Board's binding obligations under the employment contract given that the Board "unanimously adopted it and spread it upon its minutes," Misskelley's resignation of April 22, 2007 rendered his at-will employment termination of December 31, 2007 within the Board's legal power. *Id*.

In addition to the Board's legal right to fire Misskelley at any time and for any reason, Misskelley's physical ailments rendered him physically incapable of performing his job duties. Misskelley's physician, Dr. Susan Jenay Neely, wrote a letter dated October 26, 2007, on Misskelley's behalf, which was received by Sheriff Gray and forwarded to the Board on November 5, 2007. (R. 114). The letter discussed Misskelley's debilitating physical condition and his inability to perform his job and stated, in pertinent part, the following:

This letter is written on behalf of my patient, Mr. Cooper "Pete" Misskelley, at his request. Mr. Misskelley suffers from severe arthritis which causes him to experience weakness, limited mobility, and chronic moderately severe pain. Mr. Misskelley's orthopedist has recommended that he have a knee and hip replacement. Due to the dysfunction caused by the severity of Mr. Misskelley's arthritis, I currently consider him to be disabled to perform the duties of his job.

Id. When asked whether he was disabled to perform his job from November 5, 2007 and forward, Misskelley openly admits that he was, and still is, physically unable to serve as Warden of the Correctional Facility. (Tr. 29).

According to Section Five, Paragraph Two of the employment contract, CMRCF must terminate the employment contract if the Warden fails "to adequately perform the duties of his employment." (R. 104). As noted by the lower court, Misskelley's disabilities made for certain failure in his role as Warden of the Correctional Facility, rendering him incapable of fulfilling Section Five, Paragraph Two of his employment contract. (R. 212). Thus, assuming arguendo that the employment contract was applicable, the Board was within the purview of the contract when it scheduled termination of Misskelley's employment for December 31, 2007, since Misskelley's physical ailments officially prohibited him from serving as Warden as of November 5, 2007.

Misskelley alternatively argues that his employment was either never terminated at all or that the termination date was unclear. However, when Misskelley petitioned the Board for approval of catastrophic leave time, the Board did so and on November 16, 2007, the Board reflected in its minutes that catastrophic leave time had been approved for Misskelley through December 31, 2007, thus "pending (his) termination date." (R. 118). Indeed, Misskelley appeared before the Board following the Board's approval of his catastrophic leave through December 31, 2007, in an attempt to extend the ending date beyond December 31, 2007. This, coupled with the fact that a new Warden

was hired for 2008, shows the Board's scheduled termination of Misskelley's employment as December 31, 2007 and Misskelley's awareness that he was terminated as of that date.

Furthermore, as pointed out by the lower court, in addition to Misskelley's physical incapacity to perform his job and that a new Warden was hired in his place for 2008, it cannot be seriously argued that Misskelley either was or thought that he was employed past December 31, 2007 since no salary has been paid Misskelley since that date and he has made no claim for salary after that date. (R. 212). As such, actions on the part of both parties unambiguously indicate that Misskelley's termination of employment was scheduled to occur on December 31, 2007 and did officially occur on that date.

III. THE CARROLL COUNTY BOARD OF SUPERVISORS STRICTLY FOLLOWED THE UNAMBIGUOUS TERMS OF THE PERSONNEL POLICY BY CERTIFYING MISSKELLEY'S UNUSED CATASTROPHIC LEAVE TO PERS AFTER MISSKELLEY'S TERMINATION OF EMPLOYMENT ON DECEMBER 31, 2007. THE LOWER COURT'S ORDER GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT TO APPELLEES SHOULD BE UPHELD.

Misskelley claims that the Board violated the Policy by failing to pay him for 223 days of unused catastrophic leave time after his termination of employment on December 31, 2007. The Policy clearly states the following in regard to an employee's catastrophic leave:

The Facility shall allow thirty (30) days per year (20 hours per month) for catastrophic injury or illness for employees and appointed officials. A catastrophic injury or illness means a severe condition or combination of conditions affecting the mental or physical health of an employee or member of an employee's immediate family that requires the services of a licensed physician for an extended period of time and that forces the employee to exhaust all personal and sick leave that cannot be carried over into the next calendar year. Unused catastrophic leave shall be carried over into subsequent calendar years and any unused leave shall be counted as creditable service for the purposes of the retirement system upon termination of employment. Catastrophic leave can only be used by employees or appointed officials upon approval of the Sheriff of Carroll County and the Board of Supervisors of Carroll County. Catastrophic leave shall

be retroactive to all current covered employees in the retirement system beginning at their date of employment with Carroll County.

(R. 108-109) (emphasis added). According to the Policy, Misskelley was not eligible for catastrophic leave time until he exhausted all personal and sick leave that could not be carried over into the following calendar year. Technically, Misskelley "exhausted" all applicable personal and sick leave in April of 2007 when he resigned and was paid more than \$14,000 for all unused vacation time and compensatory time he accrued over the course of his employment. (R. 121). However, the Policy expressly held that Misskelley was not eligible to receive catastrophic leave upon termination of his employment.

Misskelley contends that the lower court erred in its "interpretation" of the Policy and that Misskelley should have received payment for unused days of catastrophic leave upon his termination on December 31, 2007. (Appellant's Br. 12-14). In support thereof, Misskelley reviews the policy sentence by sentence. However, Misskelley cannot point to any provision in the catastrophic leave policy nor in any other provision in the CMRCF personnel policy where it states that employees will receive monetary compensation for their unused catastrophic leave time. No logical interpretation of the Policy's unambiguous terms requires the Board to pay terminated employees the monetary equivalent of their unused catastrophic leave time. The Policy unequivocally states that "any unused leave shall be counted as creditable service for the purposes of the retirement system upon termination of employment."(R. 108) (emphasis added).

Misskelley accrued a total of 275 days of unused catastrophic leave over the course of his employment. (R. 127). The Board approved Misskelley's request for catastrophic leave for a total of fifty-two days, from November 9, 2007 through his anticipated termination date of December 31, 2007. (R. 118). Misskelley's employment with Carroll County was terminated on December 31,

2007. Pursuant to the express terms of the Policy, the Board then certified Misskelley's remaining 223 days of unused catastrophic leave to PERS for consideration as creditable service under PERS.

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